1953

Tom Northern v. General Motors Corporation et al : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

This action was brought by Tom Northern against the General Motors Corporation for damages arising out of an accident to a 1951 one and one-half ton Chevrolet truck owned by Tom Northern and sold to him by the Central Motor Company at Grand Junction, Colorado.

Plaintiff alleges that the defendant General Motors Corporation was negligent in the manufacture, in that

the truck was defective and dangerous for use; that they failed to properly inspect, test and perfect the steering mechanism; plaintiff further alleges that General Motors Corporation was negligent in the inspection of the truck.

The defendant General Motors Corporation admits having manufactured and assembled the truck, but denies that the truck was defective and denies that it was negligent in the manufacture and inspection of the truck while it was being manufactured and assembled and before it was sold and delivered to a dealer.

In particular, plaintiff alleges that the steering mechanism on the truck broke and that as a result of such breaking the truck went out of control and upset, causing personal injury.

In this case the pitman sector shaft of the steering mechanism was found to be broken *after* the accident. The broken parts (Plaintiff's Exhibits G1, G2, G3 and G4) are in evidence and also photographs of the same parts (Plaintiff's Exhibits J, K, L, O, P, and W; Defendant's Exhibit 4) and can illustrate and explain better than can be written here. Defendant's Exhibit 7 is a blueprint in evidence, which shows the relation of the pitman sector shaft in the operation of the steering mechanism.

The accident in question occurred about a mile and three-quarters westward from a mountain pass in the State of Nevada known as Sacramento Pass on Highway No. 6 between Delta, Utah and Ely, Nevada (R. 86, 87)

when the plaintiff, the driver of the truck, was going toward Ely, Nevada (R. 86).

The road at the point of the accident is a downward grade from Sacramento Pass and is part of a large compound curve and it was after making a gradual curve to the right where the truck turned over (Plaintiff's Exhibits Q, R and S).

The plaintiff testified he was in the business of cleaning cesspools and septic tanks (R. 73) and that on May 18, 1951 he traded a Dodge truck for the Chevrolet truck in question. The transaction was made with the Central Motor Company of Grand Junction, Colorado (R. 76). After the purchase, plaintiff placed a 740 gallon tank and a sludge pump upon the truck (R. 77; Plaintiff's Exhibit A). After working in Colorado and Utah, plaintiff was in Monticello, Utah, on or about June 5th and he had driven the truck about 975 miles (R. 80, 81). While traveling between Monticello and Price, Utah, the plaintiff experienced the following (R. 81):

“A. Yes, sir. Coming down a little grade that I was driving between 50 and 60, no more than 60; I don't know if it happened, it seemed like it was a low road, or maybe my wheels would need balancing, or something made it so rough in the road.

“Q. How would you describe that?

“A. A thrill sort of like a near weaving.

“Q. How much of a weave was that? Did you cross over the center line of the highway?

“A. No, sir, it was just a slight weave in the road, wobbly.

“Q. Did the truck leave the hard surface of the highway?

“A. No, sir, it did not.”

Also, on cross-examination and regarding this same experience plaintiff testified (R. 116, 117):

“A. You mean the feeling I got from it?

“Q. Yes.

“A. It was near in the steering wheel. It gave me a funny feeling.

“Q. You felt the impulse, whatever it was in the steering wheel?

“A. Yes sir.

“Q. At that time. Was it a sensation of the steering wheel just for a very few moments going to the right and to the left?

“A. No sir, you couldn't say it was that way. It was just a wiggle.

“Q. Just about what you are illustrating, is it not?

“A. Yes sir.

“Q. You are illustrating of it going quickly from the right to the left?

“A. Yes sir. You couldn't say it went no foot and a half or two feet. Just little bobbles.”

Upon arriving at Price, Utah, plaintiff had driven the truck and its added equipment about 1300 miles and at that place took the truck into the Redd Motor Com-

pany of that city for its thousand mile checkup. Among other things complaint was made of the front end "kind of acted funny" but the Redd Motor was not apprised of the previous "weaving" experience (R. 82, 83). The truck was then driven from Price, Utah, to Grand Junction, Colorado and back to Price, Utah; thence to Salt Lake City; thence back to Price, Utah; thence to Spanish Fork, Utah; thence to Delta, Utah, and thence to the place of the accident and (except for a distance immediately prior to the accident) the truck operated perfectly (R. 82, 83, 84, 85 and 86).

After leaving the top of Sacramento Pass and traveling downgrade toward Ely, Nevada, the plaintiff testified that while traveling near sixty miles per hour he went on down around a curve and then "the first thing I knowed I was in the middle of the road from the right side; and I turned by truck back into the right side again, and when I went to turn it again, which the steering wheel had completely turned plumb around and the truck went on about its business." (R. 89.)

On cross-examination and on this same subject, plaintiff testified that after leaving the top of Sacramento Pass and after rounding a curve to the right he got over to the left of the center line of the highway and that he gradually pulled it back to the right hand side (R. 127). Also plaintiff admitted describing the occurrence on previous deposition as follows (R. 130, 131):

"Q. I will ask you whether or not at that time in the deposition you made this statement: 'Well,

it was just like, oh, just didn't have the blacktop out, you know, to the ditch. It was a smooth road there. And I snatched it back up on the road and pulled it back. When I pulled it back I never could straighten it up again.'

"A. That is right, sir.

"Q. You made that statement, did you not?

"A. Yes sir, I did.

"Q. I will ask you, Mr. Northern, whether or not, on that occasion, you made this statement: 'No sir. When I tried to turn it back to the right again, after pulling it from the right side, pull it to the left, and after trying to straighten it back to the right again, I could not straighten it. That's when I hit the brakes.'

"A. Yes sir, I did.

"Q. And right after that do you recall this question: 'And what was the sensation on the steering wheel as you tried to pull it back from the right side of the road?'

"A. Well just wasn't nothing to turn it back with.' You made that statement, did you not?

"A. Yes sir, I did.

"Q. And will you listen to the following questions and answers, Mr. Northern, on the same occasion on the deposition: 'Q. You didn't try to spin it at all back?'

"A. Well it done happened, sir. Didn't have enough time to do all that. Just steering it, I imagining around eight, ten inches; something like that.'

"Q. Then you started tipping over?

"A. It was going over then.

“ ‘Q. You were going over then?

“ ‘A. Yes sir.’

“Did you testify to that effect upon the taking of this deposition?

“A. I don’t recollect that, sir.

“Q. Do you deny now, Mr. Northern, that you made such a statement on that occasion?

“A. No sir, I do not deny it. I just don’t recollect it.

“Q. And you could have made such a statement, is that right?

“A. Possible.”

Plaintiff’s Exhibits C and M and Defendant’s Exhibit 3, admitted in evidence, clearly shows the course taken by plaintiff’s truck to the time of the upset.

Plaintiffs then read into evidence the deposition of one Gordon Wertsderfer. Mr. Wertsderfer lived about two miles from the summit of Sacramento Pass (R. 159). He related that his occupation was that of a machinist and combination welder for forty-five years and that he had handled, examined and fashioned forms out of steel (R. 163); that he had observed metal surfaces but that he had no experience in regard to steering mechanisms nor in the automotive line (R. 172, 173). On voir dire examination this witness testified that he had learned by practical experience and that he had no schooling or technical training (R. 168, 169) and that his formal education was through the eighth grade (R. 172).

Mr. Wertsderfer testified that on June 15, 1951 he received word of an accident from one Mike Drakulich who runs a place of business on Sacramento Pass and that he went to the scene of the accident and saw the upset truck (R. 159). He saw the marks on the highway as shown by plaintiff's Exhibit C (R. 160). This witness examined the truck and "in looking at the steering arm" he found that it was broken and "that one-sixth of it had a flaw in it, that showed traces of rust where the flaw had been created" (R. 173). (These conclusions were allowed over defendant's objections.) He concluded that the rust condition was in the neighborhood of "six weeks old" (R. 173). Mr. Wertsderfer testified that he called the attention of his wife and Dr. Drakulich to the broken part at the scene of the accident. (R. 176). On cross-examination witness Wertsderfer described the broken part as chrome steel, eighteen percent carbon, medium carbon steel and upon further examination he had no knowledge of any other remaining elements of the metal, or its composition and structure. (R. 177-184 incl.) Mr. Wertsderfer agreed that the "splines" on Exhibit G-2 were twisted and that it would take great force to twist these splines on an inch and one-eighth shaft. The witness then described where he saw the discoloration on the faces of the fracture by marking the areas on Exhibit 4. No evidence of crystallization was present in the Exhibits. He stated that a crack or opening to allow rust could be visible to the eye *if* the opening was "a half a thousandth or over" (R. 200). In conclusion and on cross-examination this witness testified

that he had no idea how the "flaw" got in the part in question (R. 202). He later surmised that a "jolt" in the factory might have caused it (R. 201) although he had no knowledge of how the parts are made or put together in an automotive plant (R. 202).

The deposition of Mrs. Gordon Wertsderfer was read by the plaintiff. Mrs. Wertsderfer testified that her husband called her attention to the broken part and she observed signs that appeared to be rust (R. 204). On cross examination and at the time the deposition was taken, Mrs. Wertsderfer could not see the rust or discoloration that she had referred to upon her direct examination.

Plaintiff then presented Mr. Renold O. Jenson, who stated that he was in the auto repair business in Salt Lake City, Utah, and that he was the person who purchased the damaged truck from Mr. Northern (R. 205). Mr. Jensen testified that in the repair of the truck he replaced the pitman sector shaft; that the front wheels and drag link were not damaged (R. 138) and he described further repair work (R. 207). The witness gave his opinion that there was no blow on the front end because the front end was still on the truck (R. 208). He further described "stops" to prevent the wheels being turned beyond a certain angle (R. 208). In respect to lubrication of the broken part he stated that a sleeve or bushing covers it and that it has an oiled surface and in his opinion rust would not accumulate when the parts are assembled (R. 208, 209).

On cross-examination the attention of the witness was directed for the first time to the apparent twist on the splines of the broken part (R. 209) and he stated that it would require some type of pull to produce such a twist and take a lot of force to break the sector shaft and that a sudden jolt may do it (R. 210). From his experience, Mr. Jenson testified that it depends upon a lot of factors which part fails—sometimes one part fails—sometimes another, and it depends upon where the force is applied (R. 211, 212).

Plaintiff read into evidence the deposition of Frank Snyder. The witness described himself as a machinist of forty years experience (R. 216) and at the time of the deposition he was and had been employed as a machinist for Kennecott in Ruth, Nevada, for twenty-five to thirty-five years (R. 217). The witness had never done any testing of metals (R. 219) and no special studies (R. 220), no knowledge of chemistry or chemical content (R. 232), hardness (R. 233, 234), heat treatment (R. 234), load requirements (R. 234, 235), modern milling processes (R. 238), examined metals under magnification (R. 245), and that he “never made a study of it” and that it was really none of his business (R. 245).

He testified that on June 15, 1951, he was traveling in the vicinity of Sacramento Pass and he came upon a wrecked truck and that the front end was all “busted”. He noticed a broken piece and, over objection, stated that there was a “flaw” in it (R. 218). He described the piece as having been “cracked, and the crack had

been oxidized'' (R. 225). He described a stain mark the color of rust; that the part was fractured before it was machined (R. 226). He examined the part to see if he could see anything and stated that the parts have been cleaned up (R. 226). As to the time the oxidation existed, Mr. Snyder stated that it would be longer than three weeks but concluded by stating that he would not pass an opinion and if he did it would be a pure guess (R. 229).

On cross-examination Mr. Snyder admitted to his lack of knowledge of modern steel, its chemistry, composition or structure (R. 230, 231, 232 and 233). Mr. Snyder, for the first time, noticed that the splines or serrations were twisted and immediately concluded that there had been an excessive strain on the part, not only excessive but a "great" strain on the part (R. 236). Mr. Snyder, upon viewing the part at the scene of the accident, concluded that the rough surface of the fracture indicated crystallization but upon deposition failed to find any such evidence (R. 240). In explaining this situation, the witness stated that his first examination had been a year or more ago and, in fact, the District Attorney (Mr. Collins) had a "heck" of a time convincing him that he had seen the wreck (R. 240). Also, in regard to the rust the witness was asked to point out the areas where the rust was seen and, in response, replied: "I can't show it to you. 'Taint there." (R. 241). Mr. Snyder then further concluded that the "flaw" was in the metal when the part was new but that it did not show on the outside (R. 242). He then described the area of the

“flaw” as the entire surface of Exhibits G-1 and G-2 with the exception of the rising edge (R. 242). Mr. Snyder testified that an examination under magnification might change his opinion of the problem but he refused such opportunity, stating, “I can’t pass an opinion now, after this length of time. Why, hell, I wouldn’t give an opinion on it” (R. 244, 245).

The deposition of Mr. Jon Collins of Ely, Nevada, was read by the plaintiff into the evidence of the case. Mr. Collins was an attorney-at-law and District Attorney of White Pine County, Nevada (R. 263). Shortly after this accident Mr. Northern consulted Mr. Collins regarding his case and the facts and site of the occurrence were investigated by Mr. Collins (R. 263). In the course of such investigation, Mr. Collins made various observations and measurements and identified the various photographs in evidence of that place (R. 265). Testifying concerning the alternate marks shown on Exhibit C, Mr. Collins viewed nine such distinct marks averaging about four yards apart or a distance in excess of 108 feet (R. 266). On the left hand side fifteen such alternate marks were found by him also averaging in excess of four yards apart, or a total distance in excess of 135 feet (R. 267). The right side left the surfaced part of the road and was on the graveled shoulder before turning abruptly to the left for a distance of twelve to fifteen yards (R. 279). At that point the right hand wheel left the macadam about a foot or foot and a half and there was no object which was struck or hit (R. 269). Mr. Collins described his idea of what caused the solid

marks which abruptly crossed the highway to the left (R. 270, 271). Mr. Collins describes the course of the Northern vehicle as “the first swing was slightly to the left, at which time the wheels did not leave the macadam. Then there was a swing to the right, at which time the right wheels left the macadam. And they left the macadam, as I stated previously, about a foot or a foot and a half, then there was a violent swing to the left” (R. 272). By use of his automobile speedometer, the attorney then measured the distance from the point where the marks were first observed to the place where they left the highway on the left. This distance was .12 of a mile or 633.6 feet and in addition to this the truck went into a barrow pit, hit and uprooted a substantial tree (R. 273) which was a distance of twenty to thirty yards (R. 275).

At Ely, Nevada, Mr. Collins examined the truck and observed the broken part (R. 276) and later had possession of this part after its removal from the vehicle (R. 277). He further observed that the front end was “considerably scratched and banged up” (R. 281). Mr. Collins later sent the broken part to Mr. Earl R. Parker, Professor of Metallurgy, University of California, to be examined and received a report from that expert (R. 282, 283, 284).

The *plaintiff* caused the deposition of Earl R. Parker to be read into evidence. Mr. Parker related his qualifications which revealed eminent qualifications as a metallurgist and professor of metallurgy and he has specialized in the study of service failures (R. 286, 287).

Exhibits G1, G2, G3 and G4, were shown to Mr. Parker and he testified they had the same appearance as the parts previously sent to him by one Jon Collins of Ely, Nevada, and that he made a report to Mr. Collins by letter of August 24, 1951 (R. 219). It was stipulated that Exhibit No. 5 is a true and correct copy of that report (R. 289, 290). Concerning his examination and opinions, Professor Parker testified as follows:

“A. No. The magnification used for the examination was about twenty-five times the actual size so that we could scrutinize the surface of the fracture rather closely. The things that I looked for on such a fractured surface are characteristic surface markings which indicate, by comparison with other things that I have seen in the past with known histories, the nature of the surface failure; and in particular I always check for evidence of old cracks.

“Q. Now, as a result of the examination you made and as you have described it, you arrived at certain opinions and conclusions in regard to the exhibit, did you not?

“A. That’s right. And those were stated in the letter referred to as Exhibit 1 (T.C.E. 5).

“Q. Now, did you find in your examination any reason to believe that the metal contained in the fractured parts was defective?

“A. No.

“Q. And did you arrive at any opinion that the part was sound before the fracture?

“A. Yes. There was no evidence of any defects in the cross-section of the part that had fractured.

“Q. And did you arrive at an opinion, Professor Parker, as to the cause of the fracture or failure of Exhibit P (T.C.E. G)?

“A. Yes. I would rather refer to the letter, which states as one of the conclusions of the examination ‘The fracture was caused by a sudden overload (rather than by fatigue—a type of failure that progresses slowly over a long period of time.)’

“Q. And is that your opinion now?

“A. Yes, it is.”

Exhibit 6 was then examined by the witness and from those photos of the micro-structures he testified that there was nothing to indicate either mechanical defects or metallurgical defects in the sense of improper heat treatment (R. 291). Professor Parker stated in his testimony that the structure and properties of the metal were suitable for the purpose for which it was used in the motor vehicle (R. 292). The hardness figures (the results of a chemical analysis and hardness test by Mr. Bradshaw, chemical analyst at the University of Utah were stipulated) as a result of test were normal for this type of metal and the chemical composition was suitable for use in parts of this type according to Professor Parker (R. 293). Upon examining the twisted splines of Exhibits G1, G2, G3, and G4, Professor Parker testified that the failure was due to a single overload rather than a series of small overloads and that a torsional force was applied to the part (R. 293). In regard to the problem of rust or oxidation, Professor Parker further testified (R. 295):

“A. I don’t recall seeing any oxidation on the surface of the fracture at the time that I examined it. If there had been any more than superficial oxidation on the surface, I would have noted it because of the fact that one of the things which is important in the study of such fractured surfaces is to look for evidence of old cracks which can be detected by local oxidation in the region of the old cracks, which produces a darkened area and consequently contrasts sharply with the remaining brighter portion of the fractured surface. There was no such evidence of an old crack insofar as I could determine at the time that I examined it.

“Q. And the time you are speaking about was some time toward the latter end of August of the year 1951?

“A. Yes.”

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