1953

# Tom Northern v. General Motors Corporation et al : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

## ARGUMENT

## POINT I.

THE EVIDENCE SUFFICIENTLY SUPPORTS THE FINDING OF THE JURY THAT DEFENDANT WAS NEGLIGENT AND THAT ITS NEGLIGENCE CAUSED PLAINTIFF'S INJURIES.

The logical propositions which confront the court seem to divide themselves into four distinct and separate categories. The first category which plaintiff will discuss concerns the evidence of what happened at Sacramento Pass when plaintiff sustained his injuries.

**(a) The Steering Mechanism Broke While the Truck was on the Surface of the Highway.**

In discussing the question of what occurred at Sacramento Pass, the court, the jury and all parties must turn to the eyewitness evidence of the plaintiff, Tom Northern. No one else witnessed the accident which caused plaintiff's injuries.

Plaintiff's evidence is clear, unequivocal and undisputed. On his direct examination he stated as follows concerning what happened (R. 89, 90) :

"Q. When you left the Sacramento Pass tell us what you did, where you went on the road, and what happened?

"A. After we put water in the truck I pulled out first and went down about a mile or a mile and three quarters, somewheres in there.

"Q. What speed were you making?

"A. Started off from stop still. I imagine I was travelling around 50 and near 60; went on down around a curve, then the first thing I knowed I was in the middle of the road from the right side; and I turned my truck back onto the right side again, and when I went to turn it again, *which* the steering wheel had completely turned plumb around and the truck went on about its business.

"Q. Did you hit any bumps, or had any jolts in the front end of that car before the steering wheel came loose in your hand and turned?

"A. After the steering wheel came loose in my hand?

"Q. Before that time?

"A. Before that, no, sir.

"Q. Mr. Northern, had there been any kind of ruts or obstructions in the road from Sacramento Pass down to the point where the steering wheel came loose in your hand?

"A. Only one, and that was on Highway No. 6, the main road, rough road, graveled state road, is all.

“Q. From the top of Sacramento Pass down to where the steering wheel came loose in your hand had there been any rough or obstructions of any kind?

“A. No, sir.

“Q. Will you tell us then what happened after the steering wheel came loose in your hand?

“A. Only thing I could say about that, when it came loose it shocked me; I reached for my wife, and the next thing I knowed of the steering wheel was in my face.

“Q. Where were you when the steering wheel was in your face?

“A. God only knows.”

There were several attempts made by counsel for defendant to confuse, mislead and put into plaintiff's mouth words of a contradictory nature, but the quoted portion of his evidence stands uncontradicted by any evidence. The jury would be required to believe plaintiff; find that the steering wheel on his truck came loose in his hand before the truck tipped over and before it came into collision with any object along the side of the highway, and while he was operating the truck down a slight grade on a usual and ordinary stretch of highway. The quoted testimony is substantial evidence of those facts. Even if it were not corroborated by any additional immutable or physical proof it would justify a finding in accordance with the testimony. In addition to plain-



tiff's testimony photographs were introduced in evidence which show beyond dispute that the steering wheel had broken and the front wheels were operating free from the control of the driver. The photographs showing the tire marks are Exhibits "C", "M" and "N".

The various measurements concerning the distance between the sets of marks shown by the exhibits indicate the impossibility for the driver of a vehicle to have turned the wheels of the truck with sufficient speed to cause the tire marks shown by the exhibits. Even witness Harris, defendant's own expert, testified that in his opinion the tire marks shown by the exhibits could not have been made voluntarily by a person driving the truck, and that the tire marks could have been made by the wheels after they had broken loose from the steering mechanism (R. 408, 409). The oral testimony of plaintiff is thus corroborated and proven beyond possible controversion by the exhibits showing the tire marks on the surface of the highway.

In addition to the recited facts, the occurrence of the accident itself indicates that there was some interference with the driver's control of the truck. There was no traffic; the highway was smooth; the highway was fairly straight, and nothing on its surface interfered with the way in which the truck could be controlled. Yet, suddenly there appeared on the surface of the highway tire marks, shown by the exhibits, and the truck swerved off of the highway and tipped over in the borrow pit.

The happening of this accident is further evidence of the truth of plaintiff's testimony and of the fact that some portion of the truck became inoperative causing a loss of control by the driver.

The evidence is substantial, undisputed and corroborated and plaintiff submits that it forms a sound evidentiary basis for a jury finding that the Pitman shaft on the steering mechanism broke while plaintiff was driving his truck down the highway in a usual and ordinary manner.

**(b) The Truck Became Uncontrollable Because the Pitman Shaft Broke.**

The evidence was clear, undisputed and unequivocal concerning the portion of the truck's steering mechanism which failed to operate and which resulted in the truck being uncontrollable by the driver.

Witnesses Wertsderfer and Snyder, who were both machinists of many years of experience, examined plaintiff's truck at the scene of the accident and before it had been moved and both stated that the only portion of the steering mechanism which they discovered to be broken was the Pitman shaft.

Renold O. Jenson, the purchaser of plaintiff's wrecked truck and an auto body repairman, testified that the only portion of the front end of the truck which was

damaged was the Pitman shaft and arm and that the two front wheels, the drag link and the tension bar were all in place; were not damaged and were not broken (R. 206, 207). The effect of this testimony was that the only thing in the steering mechanism which was not in an operable condition was the Pitman shaft.

Apparently defendant would, by its brief, attempt to cast some doubt on the proposition that the Pitman shaft broke and the loss of control of the truck resulted. The speculation thus attempted finds no support whatever in the evidence introduced. When this evidence is considered with the evidence recited in Point I, subparagraph (a) it appears that the jury was confronted with unequivocal and uncontradicted evidence of two facts: that the truck became uncontrollable while being operated down the surface of the highway, and that the only cause of loss of control was the broken Pitman shaft. The proof of these two facts plaintiff submits would have justified the submission of his case to the jury, for a jury could have found from the evidence that under normal operation the Pitman shaft had broken and therefore it must not have been reasonably suited or sufficient for the purpose for which it was intended, manufactured and designed and that defendant was negligent in so equipping the Chevrolet truck which it had sold to defendant. Defendant went further than the bare minimum in his proof and offered substantial uncontradicted and unequivocal evidence as to the defect in the manufacture of the Pitman shaft.

**(c) The Pitman Shaft Broke Because of a Defect.**

The Pitman shaft that was broken was of the highest quality steel. The evidence of the defendant, as well as a portion of the evidence of plaintiff, demonstrated beyond dispute that it was a high quality chrome steel, designed to resist great and enormous pressures, stresses and strains. The expert witness, on whom defendant as well as plaintiff placed great reliance, that is, Dr. Earl R. Parker, testified that in his opinion the shaft was of such strength that a driver could not by exertion and pressure on the steering wheel break the shaft as it was broken (R. 296). Dr. Parker was also of the opinion that the force breaking the Pitman shaft moved from the back toward the front of the truck, which would not be the result had the Pitman shaft been broken by a blow while the truck was moving forward (R. 294).

The witnesses for the defendant all agreed with Dr. Parker's opinion that the force required to break the shaft greatly exceeded the amount that a driver could bring to bear by turning the steering wheel.

From this evidence plaintiff submits that the jury could find that the driver of the truck by manipulating the steering wheel could not have broken the Pitman shaft and that therefore the shaft must have been broken at a time prior to the placing of it on the Chevrolet truck.

This conclusion is further substantiated by the evidence of Jenson, the auto body man. Jenson testified that there were stops which prevent the wheels of the truck from turning beyond a certain torque and that these stops operate independent of the steering mechanism and operate on each individual wheel so that when the wheel is back against the stop no amount of force applied on it could exert further force into the steering mechanism (R. 208).

Plaintiff submits that the evidence of Parker and Jenson completely destroys any possible basis for inference that the Pitman shaft was broken by the operation of the truck or by the force of any blow which may have been struck on the front end of the truck while it was proceeding forward.

**(d) The Pitman Shaft was Broken Before it was Assembled on the Truck.**

Plaintiff presented evidence showing that the break in the Pitman shaft was in existence before the truck was assembled and left the hands of the defendant manufacturing company. Defendant's own witness Griffin testified that the Pitman shaft was manufactured by a division of General Motors Corporation and that the assembling of the Pitman shaft on the Chevrolet truck was accomplished by the Chevrolet Division of the defendant corporation. A part of the assembling of the truck included the placing over the point where the Pitman shaft broke a sleeve or bushing, which sleeve re-

tained oil between its inside surface and the surface of the Pitman shaft; the oil would prevent rusting on the Pitman shaft as long as the bushing was in place (Testimony Jenson, R. 207, 208).

Plaintiff presented evidence that the broken portions of the Pitman shaft contained on the face of the broken surface a rust spot. This condition existed immediately following the accident while plaintiff's truck was still in position on the edge of the highway.

The witnesses Wertsderfer and Snyder examined the broken Pitman shaft and both were men whose lives had been spent handling metals, welding them, examining their surfaces and who were certainly qualified to know rust or oxidation on metal when they saw it. The testimony of Snyder and Wertsderfer was unequivocal that a portion of the surface was oxidized and had a slight rust film on it. Wertsderfer pointed out the rust film to his wife, whose deposition was also presented and considered by the jury.

The existence of this rust spot on the broken surface of the metal was one of the most hotly contested issues in the case. The testimony of Snyder and Mr. and Mrs. Wertsderfer remained unto the end as a substantial basis for a finding that the rust spot existed.

Even defendant's own witnesses were able, at the time of trial, to observe on the surface of the broken shaft a portion which was more oxidized than other por-

tions of the broken shaft. Dr. Parker, whose evidence defendant adopts, pointed out to the court and jury the superficial oxidation on a portion of the broken part (R. 302). Witness Griffin, the expert upon whom the defense case primarily rests, in front of the jury and at the time of trial, was able to observe the rust on the top of the broken portion of the Pitman shaft and this rust occurred at the point where Mr. Griffin and the other experts testified the break of the shaft commenced. In discussing the rust, witness Griffin testified as follows (R. 355):

“Q. Isn’t that true — if you look at it maybe you can see it a little better than I can, now, but above that line there are evidences of rust, which do not exist below that line?”

“A. There appears to be rust there that doesn’t appear below the line.”

He described the rust as superficial oxidation, the same language used by Dr. Parker (R. 356).

One expert, Dr. Flanders, of the University of Utah, could not see the rust on the face of the broken part. It appears then that of the five expert witnesses who testified about the broken part and examined its face four of those witnesses were able to see rust. Two of the witnesses saw the rust immediately following the accident. The other two saw it sometime after the accident, but nevertheless were able to discern its presence. In addition to the four experts, one lay witness, Mrs. Wertsderfer, saw the rust at the time of the accident.

Plaintiff submits that there is substantial evidence from which the jury could find that the face of the broken shaft was rusted immediately following the accident; that the rust could not have accumulated while the shaft was in its bushing and under the grease film held in place by the bushing; that therefore the rust must have accumulated in the break prior to the assembling of the bushing on the shaft. From these facts it would be required to find that the part was broken before assembled and had been broken for such a length of time as to permit this accumulation of rust in the break. A further finding would necessarily follow that the defendant manufactured and sold the truck purchased by plaintiff without adequate precautions and safeguards to insure that the steering mechanism was adequate to meet the stresses and strains of normal use and that the failure to so equip was negligence on the part of defendant.

No evidence was presented by the defendant as to any inspections of the part in question after it was machined and assembled and before it was placed on the truck. Therefore, there is no affirmative proof which would overbalance the required findings from the recited evidence.

Plaintiff submits that the evidence presented overwhelmingly proves that defendant was negligent and its negligence was the proximate cause of the injuries and loss suffered by plaintiff.



There can be no question concerning the law of the State of Utah since the recent decision of *Hooper v. General Motors Corp.*, ..... Utah ....., 260 P. 2d 549. To fit the facts of the case at bar into the framework set forth in the *Hooper* opinion I will paraphrase the language of that opinion as found on page 551. Plaintiff is required to show (1) a defective Pitman shaft at the time of the truck assembly; (2) such defect being discoverable by reasonable inspection; (3) injury caused by the failure of the Pitman shaft.

Plaintiff respectfully submits that on each and every one of the required elements of liability the evidence overwhelmingly supports the jury's verdict and proves by a great preponderance the required elements set forth in the *Hooper* decision.

## POINT II.

WITNESSES WERTSDERFER AND SYNDER WERE QUALIFIED TO EXPRESS OPINIONS CONCERNING OBSERVATIONS MADE AT THE SCENE OF THE ACCIDENT.

Points 5 and 6 of defendant's brief concern claimed error in permitting witnesses Gordon Wertsderfer and Frank Snyder to testify concerning their opinions and conclusions. Both witnesses were machinists qualified by 40 years of experience in handling, machining, fashioning and welding metals. These witnesses were both at the scene of the accident immediately following its occurrence. Each examined the broken Pitman shaft and

each discovered the presence of rust thereon. Certainly no one could seriously contend that these men were not competent from their years of experience to recognize rust when they saw it. This court has long recognized that practical experts are witnesses whose testimony is of great value to the jury.

In the case of *Wright v. Southern Pac. Co.*, 15 Utah 421, 49 Pac. 309, 310, a witness for plaintiff, qualified as a practical expert, testified concerning certain operations of a train. His testimony was objected to by the defendant and the objection overruled. This ruling of the trial court was the subject of the appeal and from the opinion of this court we quote :

“ \* \* \* It appears that the witness was shown to be competent to testify as an expert. Whether a witness is shown to be qualified to testify as to matters of opinion is a preliminary question for the trial judge to pass upon at the trial, and his discretion is conclusive unless manifestly erroneous as a matter of law. *Railway Co. v. Novak*, 9 C. C. A. 629, 61 Fed. 580. It also appears that the subject about which the witness was called upon to give his opinion was not a matter of such common knowledge that the jury could judge as intelligently as one skilled in the use and management of an engine. \* \* \* ”

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